STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marion County

Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RUSSELL LEVON JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002393

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
FEB 20 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by admitting evidence of unindicted domestic violence that occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties as proof of the first degree domestic violence offense for which Appellant was indicted and tried in Marion County, particularly where the trial judge failed to give a limiting instruction to the jury that it could only consider this evidence as proof of kidnapping, and where Appellant was undoubtedly prejudiced because it is unclear from the record whether the jury found Appellant guilty based on the indicted conduct which occurred in Marion County or the unindicted conduct which occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Marion County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on February 9, 2017 for domestic violence first degree and kidnapping. R. 152. His case was called to trial on November 13, 2017 before the Honorable William H. Seals, Jr., and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors John Holt and Patti Parker represented the state, and Scott Floyd represented Appellant. R. 1.

On November 15, 2017, the jury acquitted Appellant of kidnapping, but found him guilty of domestic violence first degree. R. 139, ll. 17-25. He was sentenced to ten years imprisonment. R. 142, ll. 12-13.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265) (internal quotation marks omitted).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Tonya Richburg, who knew each other since high school, lived together in Longs for four years. Around August 2016, the pair separated and Richburg ultimately moved to Mullins in Marion County with her children. R. 28, l. 4 – 30, l. 1; R. 88, ll. 13-23. On September 15, 2016, Appellant showed up at Richburg's new house and asked her to ride to the store with him so the two could talk. Richburg agreed. In the car, Appellant told Richburg that he heard she was "moving on" and accused her of cheating on him and stealing money from him. R. 30, ll. 2-25.

As they were driving, Richburg asked Appellant to take her home so she could get her children. However, according to Richburg, Appellant refused. Richburg claimed Appellant grabbed her phone and took the battery out. He also took the battery out of his phone and told Richburg, "[N]obody's gone get in contact with you or me." R. 31, ll. 4-21.

Appellant then drove Richburg to a wooded area in Dillon County. They stood outside and talked. Appellant continued to accuse Richburg of cheating on him and stealing money from him. R. 31, l. 15 – 32, l. 15. After stopping in Dillon, Appellant drove to a store and bought a beer. Richburg claimed Appellant then drove her "down some back roads" and "a long dirt road" to another wooded area in Clio, which is in Marlboro County. R. 32, l. 21 – 33, l. 5; R. 35, l. 20 – 36, l. 7.

Appellant "made his own path through" the woods with the car and parked. Richburg claimed Appellant then got out of the car, walked to the trunk, and grabbed "a long metal stick" with a sharp end. She alleged Appellant stabbed her in the chest with this metal object as she was sitting in the car. R. 36, ll. 7-13. According to Richburg, Appellant then pulled her out of the car and onto the ground where he kicked and punched her in the face and on her side. Once

she was on the ground, Appellant grabbed a hammer from the trunk and struck her in the back of the head twice. He continued to accuse her of cheating on him and stealing money from him. R. 36, l. 13 – 37, l. 9.

Despite allegedly telling Richburg that “nobody would ever find” her in the woods, Appellant eventually helped Richburg get back in the car and drove her back to Mullins. R. 36, l. 18 – 37, l. 1; R. 38, ll. 1-12. On the way, the two stopped at a church where Richburg used the bathroom outside and a store where Appellant bought another beer. R. 38, l. 11 – 39, l. 20. During these stops, Richburg never tried to run away or find help. R. 39, ll. 21-25. Appellant even offered to take Richburg to the hospital. However, Richburg refused the offer because she “didn’t want to get him in trouble.” R. 57, l. 20 – 58, l. 7.

The pair eventually arrived at the Imperial Motel in Mullins, which is in Marion County, where Appellant rented a room. R. 40, ll. 4-8. Once in the room, Richburg claimed Appellant stood behind her and “tried to pop my neck.” He allegedly told her, “[T]onight is going to be your last night here. And when I kill you, I gone turn around and kill myself.” R. 40, ll. 18-25.

Appellant ultimately laid down on the bed and fell asleep. When Richburg noticed Appellant was sleeping, she ran out of the room and knocked on the door of the nearest room. She asked the occupants to take her home. However, once they saw her condition, they said they were going to call the police and Richburg ran from them. R. 41, ll. 1-6. She claimed she ran because she “didn’t want to get him [Appellant] in trouble” and “didn’t want him to go to jail.” R. 41, ll. 8-11. Finally, Richburg ran into a police officer that was at a store nearby. She was taken to the hospital by ambulance. R. 41, ll. 6-15.

The state failed to present any evidence from the medical professionals who treated Richburg that morning and in the subsequent days regarding the extent of her injuries and any

necessary treatment. Richburg claimed her arm was broken in two places and that she received stitches to treat a wound on her arm. R. 42, ll. 1-18.

Appellant gave a statement to law enforcement after his arrest in which he admitted to picking Richburg up in his car that day and to being in the motel room with her. However, he “said he did not know how her injuries happened.” R. 105, ll. 14-23.

The jury struggled to reach a verdict. Minutes after the trial judge gave the jury an Allen¹ charge, it returned with a verdict acquitting Appellant of kidnapping, but finding him guilty of domestic violence first degree. R. 136, l. 9 – 139, l. 25.

¹ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence of unindicted domestic violence that occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties as proof of the first degree domestic violence offense for which Appellant was indicted and tried in Marion County, particularly where the trial judge failed to give a limiting instruction to the jury that it could only consider this evidence as proof of kidnapping, and where Appellant was undoubtedly prejudiced because it is unclear from the record whether the jury found Appellant guilty based on the indicted conduct which occurred in Marion County or the unindicted conduct which occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties.

Motion and Ruling

Appellant moved pretrial to exclude any evidence of domestic violence that allegedly occurred in counties other than Marion County where Appellant was indicted and tried. Defense counsel explained that Richburg alleged Appellant committed acts of domestic violence in Dillon and Marlboro Counties in addition to Marion County where he was indicted. Specifically, counsel moved to “limit any testimony about any domestic type abuse that she alleges occurred in those counties because this court doesn’t have jurisdiction to hear allegations of domestic violence that occurred outside of the county.” R. 5, ll. 13-25.

Citing State v. Ziegler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182 (1979), the assistant solicitor argued kidnapping is a continuing offense and that the evidence of domestic violence that occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties is admissible as evidence of kidnapping. R. 6, ll. 2-9. He argued, “And the State feels that the jury cannot get a full and fair accurate view of what happened if we can’t present evidence to show why she did not want to get away from this gentleman.” R. 6, ll. 9-13. *The solicitor clarified that Appellant was only being prosecuted for the domestic violence*

that allegedly occurred in the room at the Imperial Motel in Marion County, but the state sought to admit the other evidence of domestic violence that took place in Dillon and Marlboro Counties to prove kidnapping. R. 6, ll. 13-21 (emphasis added). He also argued this evidence was part of the *res gestae* of the crime. R. 6, ll. 17-21.

Defense counsel then clarified his objection. He asserted, “There’s two separate counts on this indictment (domestic violence first degree and kidnapping). And what my concern is, Your Honor, is *if they’re [the witnesses are] allowed to testify about acts of domestic violence that occurred in another jurisdiction, I don’t know how they’re [the jurors are] going to separate that out when they come to deliberate on whether or not he committed domestic violence here in Marion County.*” R. 7, ll. 10-21 (emphasis added).

The trial judge took a short break to read State v. Ziegler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182 (1979), which was cited by the state. R. 8, ll. 23-25. In Ziegler, the defendant was indicted and tried for kidnapping, first degree criminal sexual conduct, and armed robbery for conduct that allegedly took place in Richland County and on Fort Jackson. Ziegler, 274 S.C. at 8, 260 S.E.2d at 183. On appeal, Ziegler argued the Court of General Sessions in Richland County did not have jurisdiction over criminal actions that took place on Fort Jackson, which was owned by the federal government. Id. Our Supreme Court agreed. It held “the lower court was without jurisdiction to try offenses within the boundaries of Fort Jackson. Id. at 9-10, 260 S.E.2d at 184. In so holding, the Court emphasized, “[W]e have evidence of a kidnapping taking place off the fort and continuing onto the fort property. We also have evidence of sexual misconduct and of armed robbery both off and on the fort premises.” Id. at 9, 260 S.E.2d at 182. The Court concluded its holding did not warrant a new trial on the kidnapping or armed robbery convictions because kidnapping is a continuing offense and because “the robbery of some, if not all, of the

items alleged to have been taken, was complete while the parties were in Richland County outside the fort.” Id. at 10-11, 260 S.E.2d at 184-185. However, the Court asserted, “At the same time, we conclude that the likelihood of prejudice as relates to the sexual misconduct charge is sufficient to warrant a new trial on this count. *There is evidence of two separate incidents of sexual misconduct, one on the fort property, and one off the fort property. We cannot ascertain from the record which of the incidents was charged in the indictment and accepted by the jury as a basis for conviction.*” Id. at 12, 260 S.E.2d at 185 (emphasis added).

After reviewing Ziegler, the trial judge expressed his concern with the admission of the unindicted acts of domestic violence. R. 8, l. 23 – 9, l. 20. While noting the Supreme Court in Ziegler held kidnapping was a continuing offense, the judge also emphasized the last paragraph of the opinion concerning the prejudice as relates to the sexual misconduct conviction. R. 9, ll. 7-17. He stated, “That would lead me to believe that they’re trying to isolate the CSC to Richland County as opposed to the fort, even though they allowed the kidnapping to go around.” R. 10, ll. 17-20.

The assistant solicitor continued to assert that the state only sought to introduce the evidence of unindicted acts of domestic violence to prove kidnapping, not as substantive evidence of first degree domestic violence for which Appellant was indicted. The solicitor suggested the trial judge give the jury a limiting instruction explaining that the evidence of the unindicted domestic violence can only be considered by the jury as proof of kidnapping. R. 10, ll. 4-16.

When asked by the trial judge about a limiting instruction, defense counsel continued to object. He asserted, “[B]ack to my original point, I don’t think there’s anyway for the jury to separate all this out of their minds . . .” R. 12, l. 20 – 13, l. 3.

The trial judge ultimately took the matter under advisement. R. 17, ll. 4-6. During Richburg's testimony, the judge ruled that the evidence of unindicted domestic violence that occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties was admissible. He stated, "What I'm going to do is I'm going to allow events that happened in other counties in this trial. The State v. Ziegler allows that in regard to the kidnapping anyway. Furthermore, in regards to domestic violence, I'm going to allow events that happened in other counties only to prove kidnapping. Otherwise, I'm going to give a clear charge that to prove domestic violence in this case it must be from evidence that happened in Marion County. Any of the domestic violence acts that happened in another county can only pertain to the kidnapping and not domestic violence." R. 34, ll. 9-20.

Richburg then testified as to the allegations of domestic violence that occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties in addition to what allegedly occurred in Marion County. Defense counsel properly renewed his objection when the trial judge admitted State's Exhibit Nos. 1-6, which were photographs that depicted injuries and conduct that occurred outside the indictment. R. 65, l. 17 – 66, l. 11; R. 68, l. 10 – 69, l. 5.

After the state rested, the trial judge unexpectedly rescinded his prior ruling and held the evidence of domestic violence in Dillon and Marlboro Counties was admissible outright and not limited to merely proof of kidnapping. R. 107, ll. 9-10. Citing to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-21-10 and 17-21-20, which concern the proper venue for the prosecution of murder when the injury and death occur in different counties, the judge concluded "if the elements of the offense took place in more than one county [then] each county has concurrent jurisdiction." The judge also cited to State v. Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 224 S.E.2d 881 (1976) and State v. Gethers, 269 S.C. 105, 236 S.E.2d 419 (1977) in support of his ruling. Confusing the nature of Appellant's objection to the admission of this evidence, the judge asserted, "In this case, we have domestic violence and

kidnapping in Marion and possibly Dillon and possibly Marlboro. So I think *venue* is proper here in Marion.” R. 107, ll. 9-23 (emphasis added).

Defense counsel renewed his objection to the court’s ruling. He argued S.C. Code Ann. §§ 17-21-10 and 17-21-20 do not apply in this case, particularly where those statutes deal with murder. R. 108, ll. 1-10.

Due to the trial judge’s ultimate ruling, he never gave the jury a limiting instruction that the evidence of unindicted domestic violence which allegedly occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties could only be considered by the jury to prove kidnapping. Consequently, the jury was permitted to consider the evidence of unindicted acts of domestic violence during its deliberations.

Discussion

The trial judge abused his discretion by admitting evidence of alleged acts of domestic violence which occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties because these acts fell outside the scope of the indictment. As defense counsel argued below, it was impossible for the jurors to separate the unindicted conduct “out when [it came time] to deliberate on whether or not he [Appellant] committed domestic violence here in Marion County,” particularly where the trial judge failed to give a limiting instruction. R. 7, ll. 10-21. The trial judge ultimately confused the objection to the admission of this evidence and based his ruling on whether venue was proper. This was error.

As discussed at trial and above, in State v. Ziegler, the defendant was indicted and tried for kidnapping, first degree criminal sexual conduct, and armed robbery for conduct that allegedly took place in Richland County and on Fort Jackson. 274 S.C. at 8, 260 S.E.2d at 183. On appeal, Ziegler argued the Court of General Sessions in Richland County did not have

jurisdiction over criminal actions that took place on Fort Jackson, which was owned by the federal government. Id. Our Supreme Court agreed. It held “the lower court was without jurisdiction to try offenses within the boundaries of Fort Jackson. Id. at 9-10, 260 S.E.2d at 184. In so holding, the Court emphasized, “[W]e have evidence of a kidnapping taking place off the fort and continuing onto the fort property. We also have evidence of sexual misconduct and of armed robbery both off and on the fort premises.” Id. at 9, 260 S.E.2d at 182.

The Court concluded its holding did not warrant a new trial on the kidnapping or armed robbery convictions because kidnapping is a continuing offense and because “the robbery of some, if not all, of the items alleged to have been taken, was complete while the parties were in Richland County outside the fort.” Id. at 10-11, 260 S.E.2d at 184-185. However, the Court asserted, “At the same time, we conclude that the likelihood of prejudice as relates to the sexual misconduct charge is sufficient to warrant a new trial on this count. *There is evidence of two separate incidents of sexual misconduct, one on the fort property, and one off the fort property. We cannot ascertain from the record which of the incidents was charged in the indictment and accepted by the jury as a basis for conviction.*” Id. at 12, 260 S.E.2d at 185 (emphasis added).

Here, it is impossible to determine whether the jury found Appellant guilty for the conduct covered in the indictment, which allegedly occurred at the Imperial Motel in Marion County, or the unindicted conduct, which occurred in Dillon and Marlboro Counties. The trial judge abused his discretion by admitting this evidence, particularly where his reasoning for doing so concerned venue, which confused Appellant’s objection. The judge’s error was compounded by his failure to give the jury a limiting instruction.

“[E]vidence of other crimes or bad acts is generally inadmissible to prove the crime charged.” State v. Nelson, 331 S.C. 1, 6, 501 S.E.2d 716, 718 (1998). However, that is precisely

what occurred in this case. The state was permitted to introduce evidence of uncharged conduct to prove the first degree domestic violence for which Appellant was indicted.² Without a limiting instruction to the jury, it is certain the jury considered this evidence when it convicted Appellant.