ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marion County
The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-002393

RECEIVED

FEB 05 2019

SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Russell Levon Johnson,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E. L. Clements, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 N. Irby St., MSQ-Q
Room 1101
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marion County

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly admitted evidence of Appellant's actions toward the Victim during the continuing course of a kidnapping that began in Marion County, continued through Dillon and Marlboro Counties, and ended at a motel in Marion County, where Appellant attempted to break the Victim's neck, because the actions in Dillon and Marlboro Counties were part of the *res gestate* of the kidnapping offense, and went to the Victim's state of mind and why she did not attempt to escape from Appellant.

At trial, Appellant moved to exclude evidence regarding Appellant's acts of violence against the Victim in Dillon and Marlboro Counties on the ground the circuit court did not have "jurisdiction" to hear domestic abuse allegations occurring outside Marion County. He then argued the jurors would be unable to separate the incidents occurring outside Marion County from the evidence regarding abuse allegations occurring inside Marion County, for purposes of deliberating on the Marion County charges before them.

On appeal, Appellant argues the circuit court "confused" the basis of his objection to the evidence at issue by erroneously overruling his objection to the evidence on the ground Marion County was the proper venue to hear the allegations, and in failing to give a limiting instruction to the jury regarding its consideration of the evidence. He further contends the evidence was more prejudicial than probative because the jury could not separate the alleged acts of domestic violence in Dillon and Marlboro Counties from the alleged acts in Marion County.

As to the circuit court's purported error in failing to exclude the evidence as unduly prejudicial, arguably this issue is not preserved for appellate review. "An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005), (*quoting State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 [1997]). In order to preserve an issue for review, the party must make a contemporaneous objection and the ground therefore, and absent

such, there is no basis for appellate review. State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 514 S.E.2d 578 (1999); Carlson, 611 S.E.2d at 287 (same); State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct.App.1991) (same). A party cannot argue one ground below and then argue another ground on appeal. State v. Byram, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360, 363 (1997) (citing State v. Tucker, 319 S.C. 425, 462 S.E.2d 263 [1995]).

Nothing in the record indicates Appellant argued the circuit court “confused” Appellant’s objection to admission of the evidence by basing its ruling on venue. After the circuit court found venue was appropriate in Marion County, and rescinded its previous ruling regarding the necessity of a limiting instruction to the jury, Appellant merely argued the statutes cited by the court for venue purposes did not apply because they related to death penalty cases. Appellant did **not** contend venue was not the basis of his previous objections, which was the sole grounds argued during the pre-trial motion and when the evidence was offered during the Victim’s testimony. In addition, Appellant never indicated the court “confused” the basis of his objection, or sought a ruling on whether the evidence was unduly prejudicial, which would have afforded the circuit court the opportunity to address the issue.. (TT, pp. 144-145; R., pp. 144-145).

Further, when given an opportunity to state objections to the jury charges as given, which did not include a limiting instruction, Appellant stated: “No objection, Your Honor.” (TT, pp. 162-174; R., pp. 123-135). Therefore, Appellant accepted the court’s ruling, and effectively waived the lack of a limiting instruction for appellate purposes.

Even if the issues Appellant raises are preserved for appeal, the evidence regarding incidents occurring between the time Appellant picked the Victim up from her home in Marion County and returned her to Marion County were admissible as part of the *res gestae* of the kidnapping and domestic violence charges set forth in the indictment. They were part of on-

going criminal acts, which the State contended commenced in Marion County, and continued through Dillon and Marlboro counties, and provided context for the Victim's testimony regarding the kidnapping charge.

The offense of kidnapping commences when someone is wrongfully and unlawfully deprived of his freedom, and continues until freedom is restored. State v. Ziegler, 274 S.C. 6, 260 S.E.2d 182, 184–85 (1979) (*citing* 1 Am.Jur.2d Abduction and Kidnapping §10), *overruled on other grounds by* Joseph v. State, 351 S.C. 551, 571 S.E.2d 280 (2002), and State v. Parker, 351 S.C. 567, 571 S.E.2d 288 (2002). Evidence of what occurs while a person is deprived of his freedom is relevant in a kidnapping charge. *Id.* “If one were kidnapped in the United States and taken into Mexico, evidence relative to that which took place in Mexico, before freedom was restored, would be proper for presentation to a jury, even though, obviously, one could not be convicted in the United States for a kidnapping in Mexico.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

“Although evidence of other criminal acts by a defendant is generally not admissible to prove the defendant's propensity to commit the crime with which he has been charged, such evidence may be admitted to prove motive, intent, identity of the perpetrator, lack of accident or mistake, or common scheme or plan.” State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 513 S.E.2d 385, 388–89 (Ct. App. 1999). In State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014), the Supreme Court held evidence of the defendant's cocaine use immediately prior to the alleged robbery, which was relevant to his motive, was properly admitted as part of the *res gestae* of the crimes for which the defendant was tried. Citing United States v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83, 86 (4th Cir.1980), the Court noted evidence of other crimes is admissible when it provides part of the crime's context, is necessary for a full presentation of the case, or is so much a part of the case's setting that its proof is

appropriate to provide the immediate context or *res gestae* of the crime on trial. *Id.* at 370-71. When evidence is admissible to provide a full presentation of the offense, “[t]here is no reason to fragmentize the event under inquiry” by suppressing parts of the *res gestae*. *Id.*; *see also State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 514 S.E.2d 578, 582–83 (1999)(same).

In this case, the State alleged the kidnapping commenced in Marion County, continued through Dillon and Marlboro counties, and ended only when the Victim was able to escape while Appellant slept in the motel room. In response to Appellant’s motion to exclude all evidence of what occurred in Dillon and Marlboro counties, the State argued the *res gestae* of the kidnapping charge included the incidents in Dillon and Marlboro counties, and was necessary to explain and provide context for why the Victim stayed in Appellant’s car, even when he left her alone in the car, rather than attempt an escape. (TT, pp. 41-52; R. pp., 5-16).

The Victim testified Appellant picked her up at her home, stating he was going to the store and wanted to talk to her. Shortly after driving away from the Victim’s home, Appellant grabbed her cellphone and removed the battery. Appellant drove to an area the Victim was not familiar with, he stopped and went into a store, and then drove to a wooded area, where he attacked the Victim with a metal rod, pulled her out of the car to the ground, proceeded to kick and punch her side and face while she was on the ground, and then hit her on the back of the head with a hammer. After putting the Victim back in the car, Appellant drove away from the wooded area. He stopped and went inside another store, before driving back to Marion County and checking into a local hotel. Throughout the ordeal, the Victim continuously asked Appellant to take her home to her children, but he refused, instead telling her he was going to kill her. (TT, pp. 65-80; R., pp. 28-43).

During Appellant's cross-examination of the Victim, he questioned her extensively about every time Appellant stopped the car and she did not attempt to escape, as well as the Victim's various statements to police after she fled from the motel room. The Victim again stated she did not attempt to escape because Appellant drove her to an area she did not know, and he repeatedly threatened her while they were riding in the car and then at the motel room, where he attempted to "pop" her neck. (TT, pp. 81-98; R., pp. 44-61).

During closing arguments, the State told the jury the first degree domestic violence charge before it was based on what Appellant did to the Victim in the Marion County motel room; not what had happened in other locations. The State further argued evidence of incidents in other counties was presented for purposes of the kidnapping charge to explain that the Victim did not try to escape from Appellant because he had beaten and threatened her. (TT, pp. 149-156; R., pp. 110-117). Appellant argued the Victim's failure to flee even though she was left alone in the car several times indicated she was not held against her will for purposes of the kidnapping charge, and the lack of medical testimony regarding the extent of the Victim's injuries created reasonable doubt on the first degree domestic violence charge. (TT, pp. 157-161; R., pp. 118-122).

Appellant's cross-examination and argument regarding the Victim's failure to escape amply demonstrate the importance of the Victim's testimony about the incidents in Dillon and Marlboro counties. The evidence was critical and necessary for a full presentation of the State's case on the kidnapping charge, because it went directly to the question of whether the Victim was unlawfully confined against her will, and why she did not attempt to escape from Appellant

when he left her alone in the car.² Without the evidence, the jury would hear only that the Victim got into Appellant's car voluntarily (which was undisputed), rode around with him for hours, and never tried to escape when Appellant left her in the car while he went into some stores and went to rent the motel room. The only way to show the jury why the Victim did not try to escape was through the evidence of what Appellant did and said to her in the car, and his actions in Dillon and Marlboro counties during those hours clearly indicated to the Victim that he was more than capable of carrying out his threats if she tried to escape the car, especially since Appellant drove them to areas the Victim did not know.

As to the first degree domestic violence charge, there was ample evidence indicating Appellant inflicted, or attempted to inflict, great bodily injury to the Victim inside the Marion County motel room. While in the room, Appellant threatened to break the Victim's neck, and actually put his arms around her neck.

Domestic violence is the unlawful infliction of physical harm or injury to a household member, or the offer or attempt to cause physical harm or injury to a household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril.³ S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-20(A) (2017). First degree domestic violence is the infliction of great bodily injury to a household member results, or the act is done by means likely to result in great bodily injury to the person's own household member. S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-20(B) (2017).

Photographs of the motel room showed bloody wash cloths and sheets, and blood splatter on the bed. (State's Exhibit 6 [4 Sheets of Photos]; R., pp. 148-151. In addition, the Victim

²Significantly, the jury acquitted Appellant on the kidnapping charge, demonstrating the jury's ability to sort through the evidence and focus on what happened in Marion County.

³It is undisputed the Victim met the statutory definition of "household member."

testified that after they entered the motel room, Appellant went back out to his car and retrieved a bottle of Windex and blue gloves. After he returned to the room with those items, Appellant wrapped his arms around the Victim's neck from behind and "tried to pop" her neck, stating he was going to kill her and then kill himself. (TT, pp. 76-78; R., pp. 39-41). This evidence established Appellant's intent to inflict, or attempt to inflict, great bodily harm (death) to the Victim inside the Marion County motel room. Appellant was much larger than the Victim, he clearly had the ability to carry out his threat to kill the Victim by breaking her neck, she had every reason to believe he would carry out that threat, and his effort to "pop" her neck was likely to result, at a minimum, in great bodily injury to the Victim.⁴

The circuit court properly ruled evidence of the events occurring in Dillon and Marlboro counties was admissible. The evidence was part of the *res gestae* of the kidnapping offense, and necessary to provide a full presentation of the kidnapping charge, especially the Victim's state of mind. The State itself made it clear to the jury during its closing argument that the evidence was presented only to show why the Victim did not attempt to escape from Appellant during the hours he had her in the car. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the evidence, particularly on the venue issue, which was the basis of Appellant's motion to exclude it.

⁴Fortunately, by the time they got to the motel room, Appellant was drunk and high, which probably saved the Victim's life because his attempt to break the Victim's neck was unsuccessful.

CONCLUSION